### TANGLEWOOD ELEMENTARY PARENT TEACHER ASSOCIATION BYLAWS

#### ARTICLE I

### Name

The name of this nonprofit association shall be the Tanglewood Elementary Parent Teacher Association (PTA), Fort Worth, Texas. It is a Local PTA organized under the authority of the Texas Congress of Parents and Teachers (Texas PTA), a branch of the National Congress of Parents and Teachers (National PTA.) The assigned Texas PTA ID number is 3848.

# ARTICLE II Purposes

### Section 1. Objectives.

The purpose or purposes of Tanglewood Elementary PTA, in common with National PTA and Texas PTA, are:

A. to promote the welfare of children and youth in home, school, places of worship, and throughout the community;

B. to raise the standards of home life;

C. to advocate for laws that further the education, physical and mental health, welfare, and safety of children and youth;

D. to promote the collaboration and engagement of families and educators in the education of children and youth;

E. to engage the public in united efforts to secure the physical, mental, emotional, spiritual, and social well-being of all children and youth; and

F. to advocate for fiscal responsibility regarding public tax dollars in public education funding.

Section 2. Awareness.

The purposes of the National PTA, the Texas PTA and this Local PTA are promoted through advocacy and education in collaboration with parents, families, teachers, educators, students, and the public; developed through conferences, committees, projects, and programs; and governed and qualified by the basic policies set forth in Article III.

Section 3. Federal Status.

The association is organized exclusively for the charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or corresponding section of any future federal tax code (hereinafter referred to as "Internal Revenue Code").

#### Article III

### **Basic Policies**

The following are basic policies of this Local PTA, in common with National PTA and Texas PTA:

A. The association shall be noncommercial, nonsectarian, and nonpartisan.

B. The association shall work to engage and empower children, families, and educators within schools and communities to provide quality education for all children and youth, and shall seek to participate in the decision-making process by influencing school policy and advocating for children's issues, recognizing that the legal responsibility to make decisions has been delegated by the people to boards of education, state education authorities, and local education authorities.

C. Commitment to inclusiveness and equality, knowledge of PTA, and professional expertise shall be guiding principles of service in this association. D. The association shall work to promote the health and welfare of children and youth, and shall seek to promote collaboration among parents, schools, and the community at large.

E. No part of the net earnings of the association shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to, its members, directors, trustees, officers, or other private persons except that the association shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered, and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in Article II hereof.

F. Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the association shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (i) by an association exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) by an association, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code.

G. Upon the dissolution of this association, after paying or adequately providing for the debts and obligations of the association, the remaining assets shall be distributed to one (1) or more nonprofit funds, foundations or organizations which have established their tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and whose purposes are in accordance with those of National PTA.

H. The association or members in their official capacities shall not, directly or indirectly, participate or intervene (in any way, including the publishing or distributing of statements) in any political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office, or devote more than an insubstantial part of its activities to attempting to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise.

### Article IV

### Relationship with Texas PTA

Section 1. Organization.

This Local PTA shall be organized and chartered under the authority of the Texas PTA, in conformity with such rules and regulations, not in conflict with the National PTA Bylaws, as the Texas PTA may in its bylaws prescribe. The Texas PTA shall issue to this Local PTA an appropriate charter evidencing the due organization and good standing of this Local PTA.

Section 2. Expectations.

This Local PTA shall adhere to the Standards of Continuing Affiliation, (see Attachment) which define requirements for Good Standing and Active Status. Local PTAs which achieve Active status by December 1, are eligible for voting representation at the upcoming National PTA Convention and Texas PTA Annual Meeting.

Section 3. Harm to Brand or Name.

Texas PTA may withdraw the charter or remove an officer of a Local PTA with notice given to the Local PTA leadership if, in the opinion of Texas PTA, the Local PTA is jeopardizing or endangering the good will or good name of Texas PTA.

Section 4. Withdrawal of Charter.

This Local PTA is obligated, upon withdrawal of its charter by the Texas PTA, to:

Revised 3.21.24

A. yield up and surrender all of its books, records, assets and property to the Texas PTA or to such association as may be designated by the Texas PTA;

B. cease and desist from the further use of any name that implies or connotes association with the National PTA or the Texas PTA; and

C. carry out promptly, under the supervision and direction of the Texas PTA, all proceedings necessary for the purpose of dissolving this Local PTA. Section 5. Records Retention. This Local PTA shall keep such permanent books of account and records as shall be sufficient to establish the items of gross income, receipts and disbursements of the association including, specifically, the number of its members, the dues collected from its members and the amount of dues remitted to the Texas PTA. Such books of account and records shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by an authorized representative of the Texas PTA or the National PTA.

Section 6. Dissolution of PTA. A Local PTA considering dissolving its relationship with Texas PTA (and thereby National PTA) shall follow the procedures for dissolution as adopted by the Texas PTA Board of Directors. These procedures include but are not limited to:

A. notifying Texas PTA of the Local PTA's intent to dissolve;

B. a meeting with a representative of Texas PTA with the Local PTA executive board members, including the principal, to discuss the ramifications of dissolution and procedures;

C. a regular or special meeting of the membership with a representative of Texas PTA; and

D. a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the members present is required for dissolution, a quorum having been established. Any Local PTA failing to follow the procedures shall forfeit all Local PTA books, records and assets to Texas PTA.

# ARTICLE V

### Membership and Dues

Section 1. Members.

A. Membership in PTA shall be open without discrimination to anyone who believes in and supports the mission and purposes of National PTA and Texas PTA.

B. Every individual who is a member of this Local PTA is a member of the National PTA and the Texas PTA and is entitled to all the benefits of such membership.

C. The members of this Local PTA shall be the individual members who have paid dues for the current membership year.

D. The membership year shall be August 1 - July 31. (Proviso: The initial membership year for PTAs organizing after March 15 shall be extended to July 31 of the subsequent membership year.)

E. Only members of this Local PTA who have paid dues for the current membership year may participate in the business of the association and be eligible to serve in any elected or appointed position.

F. This Local PTA may admit individuals to membership at any time.

G. Members of this Local PTA are recognized as members of Texas PTA and National PTA when membership rosters and dues are received by Texas PTA. Section 2. Dues.

A. Annual dues for each member shall be \$7 per person or \$14 per family for the local portion of dues which includes state dues of \$2.75 as determined by Texas PTA and national dues of \$2.25 as determined by National PTA.

B. This Local PTA shall remit a membership roster and the national and state portions of the dues paid by each member of this Local PTA to the Texas PTA as required by Texas PTA.

C. In the event that dues imposed by the state or national organization are increased, the Executive Board reserves the right to adjust the dues structure of this organization accordingly. Any adjustments made to the dues structure shall be communicated to the members in a timely manner. The Board shall consider factors such as the financial stability of the organization and the ability of members to pay when determining the extent of any adjustments to the dues structure.

Section 3. Texas PTA Honorary Life Members.

A. An honorary life membership may be granted to any deserving individual by the Local PTA upon receipt of payment to Texas PTA.

B. An honorary life membership does not authorize the right to vote or hold office without payment of the national and local portion of the dues.

C. Each honorary life membership grants an exemption from paying the Texas PTA portion of the dues at only one (1) Local PTA.

# ARTICLE VI

# Executive Board

Section 1. Eligibility. Each executive board member shall be a member of this Local PTA prior to taking office.

Section 2. Executive Board. The executive board members of this Local PTA shall be a president, six (6) vice president(s), a past president, an assistant treasurer and a parliamentarian.

Section 3. Term of Office. Executive board members shall assume their official duties following the close of the fiscal year and shall serve a term of one (1) year. PTAs that do not follow a traditional school year schedule shall designate a calendar year in standing rules. The elected executive board members shall not serve more than two (2) consecutive terms in the same office. One who has served more than one-half (1/2) of a term shall be credited with having served that term.

Section 4. Vacancy in Office. All executive board positions not filled by election become vacant. In the case of a vacancy in the office of president, a vice president shall serve notice to the executive board of the election to fill the vacancy of the president and shall conduct the election. A vacancy in any office other than president shall be filled by an affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining members of the executive board. In the interim, duties of any vacancy shall be assumed by the executive board.

Section 5. Duties of Executive Board Members. The executive board members shall perform the duties as prescribed for the office in these bylaws, by the executive board in applicable state statutes, and in the parliamentary authority.

A. President. The president shall:

1. Coordinate the work of the officers and committees of the association in order that the Purposes may be promoted.

2. Confirm that a quorum is present at all meetings of the association before conducting business.

3. Preside at all meetings of the association.

4. Appoint the chair of each standing committee and special committee, subject to the approval of the executive board, unless otherwise provided in these bylaws.

- 5. Be authorized to sign on bank accounts, unless prohibited by terms of employment.
- 6. Be authorized to sign contracts approved by the executive board.
- 7. Be listed as the principal officer and be authorized to sign tax documents, unless prohibited by terms of employment.

8. Appoint a member, subject to the approval of the executive board, who is not authorized to sign on the bank account to open, review, initial and date each bank statement.

- 9. Represent the Local PTA as a delegate to Council PTA (when the Local PTA is in membership with Council PTA).
- 10. Appoint the financial reconciliation committee, subject to the approval of the executive board.
- 11. Serve as an ex-officio member of all committees except the nominating and financial reconciliation committees.
- B. Vice President of Tiger Relations. The vice president shall:
- 1. Oversee all Tiger Relations Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Tiger Relations information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure activities are on goal and within budget.
- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Coordinate gifts, meals, etc. for faculty and Tanglewood families in recognition of significant life events, challenges, serious injuries and illnesses.
- 6. Voting member of the Executive Board.
- 7. Prepare budget recommendations for the following school year.
- C. Vice President of Finance/Treasurer. The vice president shall:
- 1. Oversee all Finance Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Finance information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure activities are on goal and within budget.
- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Present the budget and financial updates at monthly PTA meetings.
- 6. Email monthly financials to the PTA Board.
- 7. Work closely with the Principal and President of the PTA.
- 8. Oversees the annual audit.
- 9. Responsible for filing annual tax returns.
- 10. Set and communicate when payments will be made.
- 11. Disburse checks and payments twice a month.
- 12. Work with the team to set the following year's budget and fundraising goal.
- 13. Voting member of the Executive Board and PTA Treasurer.
- D. Vice President of Operations/Recording Secretary. The vice president shall:
- 1. Oversee all Operations Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Operations information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure activities are on goal and within budget.
- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Serve as Recording Secretary for the Executive Board, PTA Board and the General PTA.
- 6. Schedule, plan and invite participants to attend all meetings and track attendance.
- 7. Take minutes for approval and distribute
- 8. No less than 3 days prior to each upcoming meeting for approval.
- 9. Collect plans of work from all PTA Board Members at the beginning of the school year.
- 10. Voting member of the Executive Board.
- 11. Prepare budget recommendations for the following school year.
- E. Vice President of Volunteers. The vice president shall:
- 1. Oversee all Volunteers Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Volunteer information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure activities are on goal and within budget.
- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Oversee the coordination of all volunteer opportunities.
- 6. Ensure background checks are current for all volunteers.
- 7. Coordinate copy needs with teachers and manage copy volunteers.
- 8. Sign up genius tutoring.
- 9. Volunteer recruitment assistance.
- 10. Ensure all activities are properly staffed with volunteers.
- 11. Voting member of the Executive Board
- 12. Prepare budget recommendations for the following school year.

### F. Vice President of Programs. The vice president shall:

- 1. Oversee all Program Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Tiger Relations information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure activities are on goal and within budget.

- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Oversee the coordination of all Tanglewood Programs.
- 6. Voting member of the Executive Board.
- 7. Prepare budget recommendations for the following school year.
- G. Vice President of Fund Development. The vice president shall:
- 1. Oversee all Fund Development Chairs.
- 2. Provide relevant Donor Relations information to be shared with parents at the beginning of the school year.
- 3. Hold monthly meetings with Chairs to ensure fundraising is on track.
- 4. Communicate the needs and activities of Chairs with the President and Executive Board.
- 5. Oversee the coordination of all Tanglewood Fund Development.
- 6. Voting member of the Executive Board.
- 7. Prepare budget recommendations for the following school year.
- H. Parliamentarian. The parliamentarian shall:
- 1. Advise the presiding officers on parliamentary procedure
- 2. Oversee the review and/or revision of By-Laws, as necessary.
- 3. Oversee the PTA Nominating committee and the election of the Site Based Decision Making committee.
- 4. Attend monthly Executive Board Meetings as a non-voting member.

I. Assistant Treasurer. The assistant treasurer shall:

- 1. Support the Treasurer and assume the Treasurer role the following year two-year commitment.
- 2. Responsible for the annual turnover of authorized bank signatories for all accounts.
- 3. Work with the team to set the following year's budget and fundraising goal.
- 4. Attend all Executive Board meetings as a non-voting member.

J. Past President. The past president shall:

1. Assist front office staff as needed.

2. Attend monthly Executive Board Meetings as an advisor and non-voting member.

### ARTICLE VII

### Nominations and Elections

Section 1. Nominating Committee.

A. Composition. The nominating committee shall consist of five (5) members and one (1) alternate member. No individual shall serve as a member of the nominating committee for two (2) consecutive terms. The president shall not serve as a member of this committee nor appoint any member of this committee.

B. Election of Committee. The nominating committee shall be elected by plurality vote at a regular association meeting prior to the election meeting. The election shall be by ballot. When the number of nominees is less than or equal to the number of positions on the committee, the election may be by acclamation. The nominating committee shall elect its chair. Alternates shall serve in order of rank, when there is a vacancy or absence on the nominating committee. When the nominating committee is elected by ballot, those nominees not elected to the committee shall be alternates, ranked according to the number of votes received. When the nominating committee is elected by acclamation, nominations for alternate shall be taken from the floor and each person nominated shall serve as an alternate, ranked in the order nominated.

C. Duties. The nominating committee:

1. shall consider all candidates for elected positions whose submissions meet the requirements set forth by these bylaws and who have signified their consent to serve if elected;

2. may consider additional candidates during its deliberations; and

3. shall submit only one (1) name for each position to be filled.

D. Report of the Nominating Committee. The report of the nominating committee shall be published to the membership through regular publicity channels at least seven (7) days before the election meeting.

Section 2. Nominations from the Floor.

Nominees from the floor shall be accepted at the election meeting.

Section 3. Elections.

Officers, with the exception of the parliamentarian, shall be elected by ballot in the month of March. However, if there is but one (1) nominee for an office, election for that office may be by voice vote.

# ARTICLE VIII Meetings

# Section 1. Regular Meetings.

A. Meetings of the association shall be held at least four times throughout the academic year, and the schedule should be set between the Executive Board and Principal. Five (5) days' notice shall be given if change of date is needed. The membership shall be notified through regular publicity channels of the date and time of all association meetings following the first meeting of the executive board at which time this schedule is determined. B. The association meeting held in mid-spring shall be the election meeting.

C. The annual association meeting in May shall be for the purpose of receiving reports of officers and chairs and for any other necessary business. Section 2. Quorum.

The quorum for the transaction of business in any association meeting shall be Twenty (20) members. Revised 3.21.24

Section 3. Proxy Voting.

There shall be no proxy voting.

Section 4. Special Meetings.

A special meeting shall be called by the president or by a majority of the executive board, with at least three (3) days' notice giving the place, date, time and purpose of the special meeting. No other business may be conducted.

# ARTICLE IX

# Membership Composition

Section 1. Composition.

The members of the Tanglewood Elementary PTA executive board and chair positions shall be:

A. the executive board members;

B. the committee chairs;

C. the principal of the school or the principal's representative appointed by the principal.

Section 2. Eligibility.

Executive board members shall:

A. subscribe to, believe in and support the mission and purposes and policies of National PTA and Texas PTA;

B. agree to join the association promptly, if not a current member at the time of election or appointment;

C. receive no compensation from the association except reimbursement for reasonable expenses as set forth in PTA policies and procedures; and

D. have served no more than two (2) consecutive terms in the same position.

Section 3. Student Members.

For legal considerations, members under the age of 18 shall not:

A. serve as president or vice presidents;

B. serve as a signer on the bank account(s);

C. serve as the member appointed to open, review, initial and date the bank statements; and

D. hold a majority of the offices.

Section 4. A Local PTA member shall not serve as a voting member of this executive board while employed by, or under contract to this Local PTA. Section 5. Executive board members shall serve in only one (1) capacity.

Section 6. Board Duties.

The duties of the executive board shall be to:

A. transact necessary business in the intervals between association meetings and such other business as may be referred to it by the association;

B. present a report at the regular association meetings;

C. approve the Plans of Work of all officers and committee chairs;

D. create standing and special committees;

E. adopt the Texas PTA Local PTA/PTSA Ethics/Conflict of Interest Policy annually;

F. review the records retention policy annually;

G. prepare an annual budget for the upcoming fiscal year and submit to the association for adoption at the annual meeting;

H. comply with the legal filing requirements of state and federal government agencies;

I. approve routine bills within the limits of the budget; and

J. fill vacancies on the board.

Section 7. Board Member Duties.

The duties of each executive board member shall be to:

A. be a graduate of the Texas PTA Leader Orientation or complete the course by October 15 after election or appointment;

B. submit a written Plan of Work to the executive board for approval;

C. have a current copy of the Local PTA bylaws;

D. deliver to successor or the president all official materials within fifteen (15) days following the date on which the successor assumes duties;

E. attend all meetings of the association;

F. sign the ethics/conflict of interest policy, as adopted;

G. abide by the policies and procedures as set forth by Texas PTA; and

H. perform the duties outlined in these bylaws, governing documents and those assigned by the president.

Section 8. Meetings.

A. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the executive board shall be held prior to each meeting of the association.

B. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the executive board may be called by the president or by a majority of the members of the executive board with notice given in writing, including electronic mail, to each executive board member at least three (3) days before the meeting.

C. Proxy Voting. There shall be no proxy voting.

D. Quorum. A majority of the members of the executive board shall constitute a quorum.

E. Emergency Voting. In an emergency situation, the executive board may vote by phone, email, or other electronic means if authorized by the president. Members shall have at least twenty-four (24) hours to cast their votes. A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the entire executive board is required for adoption, and the vote shall be recorded in the minutes of the next regular meeting of the executive board.

Section 9. Removal and Resignation.

Any executive board member may be removed from office with cause by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the executive board then in office. Any executive board member may resign at any time by delivering a written resignation to the Local PTA president or Vice President of Operations.

ARTICLE X Committees Section 1. Committees. The executive board may create such standing and special committees as it may deem necessary to promote the Purposes. The

president shall be an ex- officio member of all committees except the financial reconciliation committee and nominating committee.

Section 2. Term. Chairs shall assume their official duties following the close of the fiscal year and shall serve a term of one (1) year.

Section 3. Only one (1) person shall be appointed to serve in any one (1) chair position.

Section 4. No chair shall serve in the same office for more than two (2) consecutive terms. One who has served more than one-half (1/2) of a term shall be credited with having served that term.

Section 5. Standing Committee Chairs. All standing committee chairs shall:

A. deliver to their successors or the president all official materials;

B. present a written Plan of Work to the executive board for approval;

C. have a current copy of the Local PTA bylaws; and

D. perform other duties as assigned by the president.

Section 6. Proxy Voting.

There shall be no proxy voting.

Section 7. Quorum.

The quorum of any committee shall be a majority of its members.

# ARTICLE XI

### Council Membership

Section 1. Representation.

A. This Local PTA shall be represented in meetings of the Fort Worth ISD Council of PTAs by the president or alternate, the principal or alternate and by delegate(s) or alternate(s). The number of delegates shall correspond with the number as stated in the Council PTA bylaws. All representatives to the Council PTA shall be members of the Local PTA they represent.

B. Delegates and their alternates shall be elected by the membership by March.

C. Delegates to Fort Worth ISD Council of PTAs shall serve for a term of one (1) year.

Section 2. Dues.

This association shall pay annual dues to the Fort Worth ISD Council of PTAs no later than October 15. The amount of dues shall correspond with the amount as stated in the Council PTA bylaws.

# ARTICLE XII

### Texas PTA Annual Meeting

This Local PTA shall be represented at the annual meeting of the Texas PTA by the president or appointed alternate and additional accredited delegates.

A. All delegates from this Local PTA to the Texas PTA annual meeting shall be members of this Local PTA.

B. Voting delegates and their alternates shall be appointed, subject to the approval of the executive board.

# ARTICLE XIII

### **Fiscal Accountability**

Section 1. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of this association shall begin July 1 and end on the following June 30.

Section 2. Signers. Signers on the bank account shall not be related by blood or marriage and shall not reside in the same household.

Section 3. Financial Reconciliation.

A. A financial reconciliation shall be performed:

1. at the end of the fiscal year;

2. when any authorized check signer is added or deleted on any bank account; and

3. at any time deemed necessary by the president or three (3) or more members.

B. The president shall appoint, subject to the approval of the executive board, a financial reconciliation committee consisting of not less than three (3) members, who are not authorized signers. Members of the financial reconciliation committee shall not be the incoming treasurer or be related by blood or marriage and shall not reside in the same household as the authorized signers.

C. For the financial reconciliation required at the end of the fiscal year, the president shall appoint the financial reconciliation committee at least thirty (30) days before the last meeting of the year.

D. The financial reconciliation committee report shall be adopted by a majority vote of the association at the first regular meeting following the financial reconciliation.

### ARTICLE XIV

### Parliamentary Authority

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern this PTA in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws, and any other bylaws or rules adopted by National PTA and Texas PTA.

### ARTICLE XV

#### Amendment of Bylaws

Section 1. Submission. These bylaws may be amended at any meeting of the association, provided a quorum is present, by two-thirds (2/3) vote of the members present and voting. Notice of each proposed amendment shall be provided to the membership through regular publicity channels thirty (30) days prior to the meeting at which the amendment is voted upon or at the previous regular meeting. The amendment shall be subject to approval of the Texas PTA.

Section 2. Approval. After adoption at a meeting of the association, the bylaws (and standing rules, if applicable) shall be submitted for approval to Texas PTA according to the policies and procedures of Texas PTA. Amended bylaws or standing rules go into effect when an approved copy is returned by the Texas PTA.

Section 3. Review. This Local PTA shall submit bylaws (and standing rules, if applicable) to the Texas PTA for review every three (3) years. Section 4. Adoption. The adoption of an amendment to any provision of the bylaws by Texas PTA shall serve automatically and without the requirement of further action by the Local PTA to amend its corresponding bylaws.